IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2010-CA-00429

ASPIRED CUSTOM HOMES, LLC

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

V.

TODD MELTON and TINA MELTON

DEFENDANTS/APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF LEE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

> BRIEF OF APPELLANT ASPIRED CUSTOM HOMES, LLC

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

THOMAS M. MCELROY, P.A. MS BAR 301 NORTH BROADWAY POST OFFICE BOX 1450 TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI 38802-1450 TEL. (662) 842-3723

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2010-CA-00429

ASPIRED CUSTOM HOMES, LLC

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

V.

TODD MELTON and TINA MELTON

DEFENDANTS/APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Statement of Issues
Statement of the Case
(1) Nature of Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition Below
(2) Statement of Facts
Summary of the Argument
Argument
I. Standards of Review
II. Contract Construction
III. The Meltons Breached the Contract's Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing
A. The Meltons Breached Good Faith With Regard to the Appraisal
B. The Meltons Breached Good Faith With Regard to the Home Inspection
IV. The Chancellor Erred When He Refused to Order Specific Performance and Declared the Contract Null and Void
V. The Chancellor's Construction of the Contract Was Not Reasonable
VI. The Chancellor's Findings Are Clearly Erroneous
A. The Chancellor's Finding that Nothing Prevented Plaintiff from Securing Appraisals Before the July 9, 2008 Closing Date Is Manifestly Wrong or Clearly Erroneous

B. The Chancellor's Finding that a Basis for the Meltons' Attempt to Cancel the Contract Was that the House Had Not Been Completed as of July 4 Is Manifestly Wrong or Clearly Erroneous
C. The Chancellor's Finding that Rectifying a Drainage Issue Required Considerable Work Is Manifestly Wrong or Clearly Erroneous
D. The Chancellor's Findings that Neelly's Computer Was Not Working Properly and That the Errors in His Appeal Were Cured Are Manifestly Wrong or Clearly Erroneous
E. The Chancellor's Finding That the Appraisals of Jimmy Langley and Mike Guyton Have Proven Unreliable Is Manifestly Wrong or Clearly Erroneous
F. The Chancellor's Finding That Neelly's Appraisal (Which Was Fraught With Error) Is a Sufficient Basis for Canceling the Contract Was Manifestly Wrong or Clearly Erroneous
G. The Chancellor's Finding that the House Was Not 100% Complete on July 9 is an Additional Reason for Declaring the Contract Null and Void is Manifestly Wrong and Clearly Erroneous
VII. The Meltons Failed to Come into Court with Clean Hands
Conclusion
Certificate of Service

~

κ...

TABLE OF CASES AND AUTHORITIES

.

<u>American Guar. & Liab. Ins. Co. v. 1906 Co.</u> , 129 F.3d 802 (5th Cir.1997)
Brown v. Hartford Ins. Co., 606 So.2d 122 (Miss.1992)
<u>Cenac v. Murry</u> , 609 So. 2d 1257 (Miss. 1992)
<u>Cherry v. Anthony</u> , 501 So.2d 416 (Miss.1987)14
<u>Cole v. Hood</u> , 371 So. 2d 861 (Miss. 1979)
<u>Cooper v. Crabb</u> , 587 So. 2d 236 (Miss. 1991)
<u>Dalton v. Cellular South, Inc.</u> , 20 So.3d 1227 (Miss. 2009)
Derr Plantation, Inc. v. Swarek, 14 So. 3d 711 (Miss. 2009)
<u>Dill v. Dill</u> , 908 So.2d 198 (Miss. App. 2005)
Eskimo Pie Corp. v. Whitelawn Dairies, Inc., 284 F. Supp. 987 (S.D.N.Y.1968) 14
<u>Facilities, Inc. v. Rogers-Usry Chevrolet, Inc.</u> , 908 So.2d 107 (Miss. 2005) 12, 13, 14
<u>Ferrara v. Walters</u> , 919 So. 2d 876 (Miss. 2005) 15, 16
Frazier v. Northeast Mississippi Shopping Center, 458 So.2d 1051 (Miss.1984) 14
<u>Frierson v. Delta Outdoor, Inc.</u> , 794 So. 2d 220 (Miss. 2001)
<u>Harris v. Harris</u> , 988 So. 2d 376 (Miss. 2005)
Harris v. Mississippi Valley State Univ., 873 So. 2d 970 (Miss. 2004)
Houston v. Willis, 24 So.3d 412 (Miss. App. 2009) 12, 13, 19, 20, 24, 30
In re Dissolution of Marriage of Wood, 35 So.3d 507 (Miss. 2010)
In re Estate of Pickett; Van Etten v. Johnson, 879 So.2d 467(MissApp. 2004) 19, 20
Insurance Co. of N. Amer. v. Deposit Guar. Nat'l Bank, 258 So.2d 800 (Miss. 1972) 14
Lehman-Roberts Co. v. State Hwy. Comm'n of Mississippi, 673 So. 2d 742 (Miss. 1996) 14

Miller v. Parker McCurley Properties, L.L.C., 36 So.3d 1234 (Miss. 2010)
Mississippi Rice Growers Ass'n (A. A. L.) v. Pigott, 191 So.2d 399 (Miss. 1966) 13, 14
Miss. State Hwy Comm'n v. Patterson Enters., Ltd., 627 So. 2d 261 (Miss. 1993) 12
<u>O'Connor v. Dickerson</u> , 188 So. 2d 241 (Miss. 1966)
Osborne v. Bullins, 549 So. 2d 1337 (Miss. 1989) 13, 20
Parkerson v. Smith, 817 So. 2d 529 (Miss. 2002)
Pursue Energy Corp. v. Perkins, 558 So. 2d 349 (Miss. 1990)
Royer Homes of Miss., Inc. v. Chandeleur Homes, Inc., 857 So. 2d 748 (Miss. 2003) 13
<u>Rubel v. Rubel</u> , 221 Miss. 848, 75 So. 2d 59 (1954) 13, 14
<u>Simmons v. Bank of Miss.</u> , 593 So.2d 40 (Miss.1992)
Starcher v. Byrne, 687 So. 2d 737 (Miss. 1997) 12
<u>Thigpen v. Kennedy</u> , 238 So. 2d 744 (Miss. 1970)
<u>Turner v. Terry</u> , 799 So. 2d 25 (Miss. 2001)
Walk-In Med Ctrs., Inc. v. Breuer Captial Corp., 818 F.2d 260 (2d Cir.1987)
<u>Wheat v. Wheat</u> , 37 So. 3d 632 (Miss. 2010)
<u>White v. Cooke</u> , 4 So. 3d 330 (Miss. App. 2009) 12, 24
Other Authorities
Farnsworth, Contracts (1982)

.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

This appeal, from the Final Judgment entered in favor of Defendants Todd Melton and Tina Melton by the Chancery Court of Lee County, Mississippi on March 5, 2010¹ (R., pp. 140-142), presents the following issues for appeal:

Did the Chancellor err in entering final judgment for the Meltons where:

- (1) The Meltons breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing by:
 - (a) obtaining a fatally erroneous appraisal;
 - (b) prohibiting their appraiser from re-evaluating his erroneous work;

(c) claiming that the home inspection "did not meet standard" where the home inspector made no such finding and, instead, suggested only "various minor repairs; and

(d) refusing to allow Aspired to cure the "various minor repairs" as required by the real estate contract,²

(2) The Chancellor failed to order specific performance which is "a particularly

appropriate remedy" in cases involving real estate contracts and, in fact, is "the preferred remedy" where a contracting party can feasibly be given the benefits of his bargain;

(3) The Chancellor failed to consider the contract as a whole, give effect to every word and phrase of the contract, and give the contract a reasonable construction rather than an unreasonable one;

Note that the Final Judgment explicitly incorporates the terms of the Court's Opinion and Judgment of September 24, 2009, bench ruling of February 5, 2010, and Order of February 12, 2010. (R, p. 140).

²

See Section V. which discusses the real estate contract's home inspection addendum in detail.

(4) The Chancellor made a number of manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous findings including his findings that:

(a) nothing prevented Aspired from securing appraisals from Mike Guyton and the Jimmy Langley Appraisal Company before the July 9 closing date;

(b) the Meltons gave written notice to Aspired that the contract was null and void "as the sales price had not been met and that the house had not been completed as of the date they inspected in on July 4, 2008" where Mrs. Melton's sworn testimony was that the only two reasons she and her husband did not proceed to closing were that the appraisal came under the agreed purchase price and the home inspection "did not meet standard;"

(c) considerable work was required by Aspired to rectify standing water after a significantly heavy rain;

(d) appraiser Ed Neelly's computer was not working properly and the [fatal] errors in Mr. Neelly's appraisal were cured since they did not change his appraised value of the property;

(e) the independent appraisals of Jimmy Langley and Mike Guyton, which were within two percent of each other, "have proven to be unreliable;"

(f) Ed Neelly's appraisal, which was fraught with error and contained mistakes which he admittedly should have caught, is a sufficient basis for declaring the contract null and void; and

(g) the fact that the house was not one-hundred percent complete on July 9 is a sufficient basis for declaring the contract null and void; and where

(5) The Meltons entered the Chancery Court with "unclean hands?"

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(1) Nature of case, course of proceedings, and disposition below:

On or about October 2, 2008, Aspired Custom Homes, LLC, [hereinafter "Aspired"] filed its cross-claim against Defendants Todd Melton and Tina Melton [hereinafter "the Meltons"] in the Chancery Court of Lee County, Mississippi.³ (R., pp. 11-54)⁴. Specifically, Aspired sued the Meltons for specific performance of the real estate contract they had entered into to purchase the home it built at 142 Herdstown in Tupelo, Mississippi and for damages caused by the Meltons' failure to perform. (R., p. 16). On the tenth of October of that same year, the Meltons filed their cross-claim against Aspired.⁵ (R., pp. 55-98). Aspired answered the Meltons' crossclaim on November 7, 2008. (R., pp. 101-103).

Discovery ensued. (See, e.g., R., pp 104-114).

On July 2, 2009, Aspired's cross-claim for specific performance and for damages

3

4

Crye-Leike South, Inc. had filed an interpleader action in the Chancery Court of Lee County, Mississippi against Aspired Custom Homes, LLC, Todd Melton, and Tina Melton with regard to earnest money the Meltons had deposited with it towards the purchase of the home that Aspired Custom Homes built at 142 Herdtown Drive, Tupelo, Mississippi 38804. (R., pp. 6-9). On October 2, 2008, Aspired Custom Homes answered Crye-Leike's Complaint for Interpleader and, simultaneously, cross-claimed against Todd and Tina Melton for specific performance of the real estate contract they had entered into to purchase the home and for damages it suffered as a result of the Melton's failure to perform. (R., pp. 11-54).

The following abbreviations were used for record citations: "R" - record; "Tr" - trial transcript; and "Ex" - trial exhibit."

Technically, the Meltons answered Crye-Leike's Complaint for Interpleader and simultaneously cross-claimed against Aspired Custom Homes. (R., pp. 55-98) At that time, however, they did not respond, paragraph by paragraph, to the cross-claim Aspired Custom Homes had filed against them as required by Rule 12(a) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure which states, in pertinent part, that [a] party served with a pleading stating a cross-claim against him shall serve an answer thereto within thirty days after the service upon him." Miss. R. Civ. P. 12(a).

proceeded to trial against the Meltons. (Tr., p. 1). That same day, the Meltons finally answered Aspired's cross-claim against them. (R., pp. 136-139). Testimony was taken from the parties and from witnesses, arguments were had, and the proceedings were adjourned. (Tr., pp. 1-340).

On September 24, 2009, the Chancellor issued his "Opinion and Judgment." (R., pp. 117-122). The next day, he gave notice of the entry of his opinion and judgment pursuant to Rule 77(d) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. (R., p. 123).

Aggrieved by the Chancellor's ruling, Aspired filed its Motion For Reconsideration on October 8, 2009. (R., pp. 124-125). Hearings were held on Aspired's Motion on January 19, 2010 and on February 5, 2010. (Tr., pp. 344-359 and 363-390). On February 12, 2010, the Court issued its order, denying Aspired's Motion For Reconsideration, awarding attorney fees to the Meltons, and assessing court costs against Aspired. (R., pp. 126-127). That same day, Aspired filed its objection to the Meltons' itemization and request for attorney fees. (R., pp. 128-135). Ten days later, on February 22, 2010, the Meltons responded to Aspired's objection. (R, pp. 136-139).

On March 5, 2010, the Chancellor entered his Final Judgment which incorporated his September 24, 2009 Opinion and Judgment, his February 5, 2010 bench ruling, and his February 12, 2010 Order. (R., pp. 140-142).

This Appeal followed. (R., pp. 146-147).

(2) Statement of Facts.

Aspired began constructing a spec home at 142 Herdtown Drive in Tupelo, Mississippi in 2007. (Tr., p. 131). It listed the home with real estate agent Alfredo Giacometti of Crye-Leike

Realtors in early 2008 for \$358,000.00. (Tr., p. 132-33). By June of 2008, the home was nearly complete and in move-in condition. (Tr., p. 132).

On June 20, 2008, the Meltons, through their Coldwell Banker real estate agent, Frances Dempsey, offered to purchase Aspired's home for \$328,000.00. (Tr., p. 133; Ex. 7). Their offer was accompanied by a demand for substantial changes to the property. (Tr., p. 133, Ex. 13). Aspired rejected the Meltons' offer and made a counter-offer. (Tr., p. 134). After negotiations back and forth, the Meltons and Aspired finally reached an agreement and entered into a real estate contract. (Tr., p. 134; Ex. 7). The contract, which was signed by Aspired on June 24, 2008 and by the Meltons on June 25, 2008, set the purchase price at \$340,000.00 and closing for July 9, 2008. (Ex. 7). It explicitly provided that "[s]pecific performance is the essence of this [c]ontract." (Ex. 7, p. 3, ¶ 16). It also required Aspired to make a substantial number of changes and additions to the home and required the Meltons to (1) make application in proper form for a loan sufficient to close within seven calendar days and (2) arrange for a home inspection to be conducted and a written request for repairs delivered to Aspired within ten calendar days. (Ex. 7 at p. 1 at ¶ 2., at "Buyer's Counter Offer # 1," and at "Home Inspection Addendum").

Aspired immediately began working on the changes and additions. (Tr., pp. 135-143). It was anticipated and understood that all of the changes and/or additions might not be completed by July 9, 2010 but that closing would nevertheless proceed that day. (Ex. 7 at p. 2 of Buyer's Counter Offer # 1). This is evidenced by the hand-written notation on the next to last page of the contract which required Aspired to deliver and install the new door the Meltons had chosen as soon as it arrived. See Ex. 7 at p. 2 of Buyer's Counter Offer # 1. Said notation explicitly stated that late delivery and installment of the door would not delay closing which was set for July 9, 2008. See Ex. 7 at p. 2 of Buyer's Counter Offer # 1.

In any event, on June 24, the Meltons retained E. C. ["Ed"] Neelly, IV [hereinafter "Neelly"], to appraise the home and to perform a home inspection on it. (Tr., p. 35). A week later, on July 1, 2010, Neelly performed an appraisal and home inspection of the property. (Tr., p. 35). They did not, however, within seven days, "make application in proper form" "for a loan sufficient to close" as required by the real estate contract. (Tr., p. 28; Ex. 7, p. 1).

A few days later on the July 4 holiday, Aspired received a phone call from its real estate agent, Alfredo Giacometti. (Tr., p. 146). Giacometti relayed to Aspired that the Meltons' real estate agent, Frances Dempsey, had called and advised that Neelly had appraised the home below its contract price and that there were some standing water issues. (Tr., pp. 145-47; Ex. 1). By that time, Aspired had completed the vast majority of the changes and/or additions at an additional cost to it in the amount of \$10,408.69 and with closing still five days away. (Tr., pp. 135-143 and 152-59).

Significantly, the Meltons did not, as required by the real estate contract (see Ex. 7 at Home Inspection Addendum), deliver Aspired a written request for repairs within ten calendar days of said contract. In fact, to date, they have yet to deliver Aspired a written request for repairs. Nevertheless, Aspired did go ahead and address the issues and, having done so, assumed that the sale would proceed as scheduled. (Tr., pp. 145-46).⁶

However, on July 7, 2008, Closing Coordinator, Jessica Coggins of Coldwell Banker, prepared a "To Whom It May Concern" letter. (Ex. 16). In the letter, Ms. Coggins indicated that the Meltons did not wish to move forward with closing and that the real estate contract should be

More specifically, Aspired attached a four-inch boot to down spouts, replaced the four-inch pipe under the driveway with an eighteen-inch pipe, and widened the swell to prevent standing water following heavy rainfalls. (Tr., pp. 148-49).

considered null and void. (Ex. 16). She set forth the bases for the Meltons' decision as being standing water in the front yard following the July 4, 2008 heavy rainfall, a "suggestion" by the home inspector that dirt work and grading be performed to eliminate water from ponding in certain areas, and the fact that the Meltons' appraiser had appraised the property below the contract price. (Ex. 16).

Aspired immediately responded that same day. (Ex. 15). It stated that it had been unaware of any water issues, that the situation could be corrected easily, and that it would provide dirt work and grading as necessary to prevent the ponding of water. (Ex. 15). It also voluntarily assumed an additional obligation to install a fourteen-inch storm drain pipe to allow water to move freely under and away from the driveway. (Ex. 15).

The next day, July 8, 2010, just one day before the scheduled July 9, 2010 closing, Ms. Coggins prepared a second "To Whom It May Concern" letter. (Ex. 17). In this letter, she stated that the Meltons would not move forward because, despite the fact that their appraiser, Ed Neelly, had re-measured the property and found an additional thirty square-feet not included in his appraisal, he "did not feel the need to make changes to his report." (Ex. 17). Importantly, and as set forth below, Mr. Neelly offered to re-evaluate the property as well as re-measure. (Tr., pp. 47, 52-53, 62, 70). However, Mrs. Melton prevented him from doing so, stating that she was perfectly happy with what he had originally done. (Tr., pp. 47, 52-53, 62, 70). This is despite the fact that Mr. Neelly had made a number of mistakes in his evaluation and appraisal including under-measuring the home by 30 square feet, failing to value the 552 square foot garage at \$30.00 per square foot as he had intended to do, and failing to value the 67 square foot storage room. (Tr., p. 39). Additionally, the evidence revealed there to be a glitch in the software program Neelly used in appraising the property. (Tr., pp. 39-40). Neelly admittedly should have

caught the mistakes caused by the glitch before his report went out. (Tr., p. 40). However, he failed to do so and, despite his failure, was not allowed to re-evaluate the property and his appraisal. (Tr., pp. 40, 47, 52-53, 62, and 70). Moreover and significantly, the copy of the contract sent to Neelly at the time of his appraisal was incomplete. (Tr., pp. 36-37). It showed the contract price at \$328,000.00 rather than \$340,000.00. (Tr., pp. 36-37). And, even more significantly, it did not reflect all of the changes and additions that Aspired was making to the property for the Meltons, at the Meltons' request, and as reflected in the document entitled "Buyer's Counter Offer # 1" which was appended to the back of the real estate contract. (Tr., pp. 37-37). Neelly had no way of knowing about these changes and additions at the time of his July 1 inspection and appraisal because they had not all been completed at that time and because he had not been provided the complete contract which reflected these items.⁷

This Court should also note that, at the time the Meltons' agent wrote the second "To Whom It May Concern" letter on July 8, 2010 advising that the Meltons would not move forward on the contract due to Neelly's appraisal, the Meltons still had not made application in proper form for a loan sufficient to close as required by the real estate contract. (Tr., p. 28; Ex. 7, p. 1). Rather, all they had done by that time was make informal inquiry about interest rates at several banks in their hometown of Grenada, Mississippi. (Tr., p. 28). They made no effort whatsoever to make formal application as they were contractually required to do. (Tr., p. 28). This is

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