### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ASPIRED CUSTOM HOMES, LLC

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2010-CA-00429

TODD AND TINA MELTON

APPELLEES

## **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Todd and Tina Melton, Defendants/Appellees
- 2. Aspired Custom Homes, LLC, Plaintiff/Appellant
- 3. Randall Godwin, Owner, Aspired Custom Homes, LLC

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

The trial court properly awarded attorney fees due to the court's decision to enforce the satisfaction clauses of the contract.

### ARGUMENT

# I. Standard of Review

This Court employs a necessarily limited standard of review with regards to an appeal taken from a Chancery Court. *Stevens v Stevens*, 924 So2d 645 (Miss. Ct. Appeals 2006); *Carrow v Carrow*, 642 So2d 901, 904 (Miss. 1994)

This Court has held that "a Motion for Reconsideration is to be treated by the trial court as a post-trial motion under MRCP 59(e)", *Brooks v Roberts*, 882 So2d 229, 233; See also *Boyles v Schlumberger Tech Corp.*, 792 So2d 262, 265 (Miss. 2001); *In Re: Estate of Stewart*, 732 So2d 255, 257 (Miss. 1999). As such, this Court has held that in order to succeed on a Rule 59(e) motion, "the movant must show: (i) an intervening change in controlling law, (ii) availability of new evidence not previously available, or (iii) need to correct a clear error of law or to prevent manifest injustice" *Brooks*, at 233.

This Court reviews a trial court's denial of a motion for reconsideration under an abuse of discretion standard. *Bang v Pittman*, 749 So2d 47, 52 (Miss. 1999).

The Contract for the Sale and Purchase of Real Estate at issue contains two (2) key provisions or "satisfaction clauses" both of which must be met as a condition precedent to obligate the buyer/defendant to complete the purchase. Interpretation of these satisfaction clauses and the contract as a whole is obviously a question of law and as such is subject to *de novo* standard of review. *Russell v Performance Toyota, Inc.*, 826 So2d 719, 721 (Miss. 2002) *Sweet v TCI, MS*, 2009-CA-01260-SCT, citing *Bailey v Estate of Kemp*, 955 So2d 777, 786 (Miss. 2007); and Milton R. Friedman and James Charles Smith, Friedman on Contracts and Conveyances of Real Property §1:2.1, at 1-7 to 1-8 (7<sup>th</sup> Ed. 2005).

# II. Whether the trial court was correct in its determination that the Contract for the Sale of Real Estate was terminated, null and void due to the fact that (1) the property failed to appraise at or above the sales price and (2) that the property failed the Home Inspection.

It is undisputed that Defendants, Todd and Tina Melton, did everything required under the terms of the Contract for Sale and Purchase of Real Estate.<sup>3</sup> Specifically, the Meltons tendered the full amount of the earnest money (\$8,000.00) to Crye Leike Realtors in anticipation of closing on the property on July 9, 2008. R. 6-9.

The Defendants selected Neelly Realty Services, LLC to perform the appraisal and on July 1, 2008, Mr. Neelly issued a formal appraisal, appraising the property in the amount of \$330,000 - a full \$10,000 lower than the agreed upon purchase price.

The Defendants contacted the Plaintiff/Seller in writing and informed him of Mr. Neelly's appraisal and that they were exercising their right under Paragraph 7 of the Sales Contract, namely, that their earnest money be fully refunded due to the appraisal coming in below the purchase price. Tr. Ex. 17.

At the same time, the Defendants informed the Plaintiff/Seller that the property failed to pass the Home Inspection, which cited drainage problems with the yard and driveway. Tr. Ex. 16, 19. These drainage problems were in fact witnessed by the Defendants when they returned to Tupelo and met their realtor at the subject property to discuss their options. Tr. 261. At that time the subject property flooded severely.<sup>4</sup>

It is clear that the Sales Contract contained certain conditions, the occurrence of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Contract in question was the Mississippi Real Estate Standard Form Contract for the Sale and Purchase of Real Estate of which both sides to this action agree was prepared by the Mississippi Real Estate Commission, and "filled out" by both the Buyer and Seller Real Estate Agents and conceded by Plaintiff as not giving any "one side an advantage or disadvantage." Tr. 332.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> While the house itself did not flood, the Court heard testimony from Mrs. Melton, Frances Dempsey, Alfredo Giacommetti and Randall Godwin that the front, side and back yards were underwater, as well as the driveway. Tr. 261, 262, 235, 236, 300, 301, 195-196.

which would nullify the duty of the buyer to perform. Specifically, the contract contained two such Conditions: (1) The property appraisal <u>must</u> be equal to or above the purchase price; and (2) The property must pass the Home Inspection. Tr. Ex. 7.

## A. The Appraisal as a condition precedent

Plaintiff readily concedes that the contract at issue required that the property appraise at or above the sales price. Plaintiff's Brief p. 16, L 1.

Plaintiff argues that the Defendants/Buyers should have required that Neelly (the Appraiser) re-appraise the house based on a 30 square foot discrepancy, and a misstated purchase price. Mr. Neelly explained to the Court that he utilized a Market Value Approach in appraising the property in question. Tr. 60, 68. Neelly specifically stated that he did not use a Cost Value Approach, which would have included the garage area cost. Tr. 60. Neelly further testified that under a Market Value Approach you do not include the garage area or porch area here as argued by the Plaintiff. Tr. 60. Neelly likewise testified that (at the behest of the Plaintiff's Realtor) he re-measured and found a 30 foot discrepancy which warranted no adjustment. Tr. 59.

The trial court clarified the matter:

#### Chancellor Hatcher:

"Mr. Neelly, did the \$330,000 appraised value of yours change based on any of the factors that were provided to you either by Mr. Giacommetti or through Mr. Deaton?"

Mr. Neelly: "No sir."

Tr. 68.

Mr. Neelly did testify that he would reevaluate using comparable sales Mr. Giacommetti could supply him, but that the Defendant, Mrs. Melton, told him she didn't want him to reevaluate using "new" comparable sales. Tr. 70.

However, the Defendant did allow Mr. Neelly to reevaluate using the 30 square feet and the corrected purchase price, which did not change the appraisal. R. 300, 68.

As to allowing Mr. Neelly to reevaluate using new comparables, which were to be provided by the Seller's Agent, Mr. Giacommetti, the Defendant/Buyer testified:

"I mean, to me, that would be like saying I didn't trust the appraisal and I wanted it done again. And that don't seem right. I mean, you know, I don't want to say "fraud", but it just doesn't seem -- I get an appraisal that I pay for and I tell him, well, I want you to re-do the whole thing again." R. 300.

The language of the Contract at issue is clear and unambiguous regarding the Appraisal Condition: "Property must appraise at or above sales price or Buyer(s) shall not be obligated to complete the purchase of the property described herein and all earnest money shall be refunded to the Buyer(s)". Tr. Ex. 7. Here we have a Buyer who hired a licensed appraiser to appraise the property in question, an appraisal intended to inform the buyer of the true value of the property. The Defendants/Buyers paid for and received the appraisal and thereupon relied. Tr. 300. The Plaintiff's real complaint seems to be with the Appraiser, Mr. Neelly, who is not a party to this lawsuit. Tr. 192, L 16.

## B. The Home Inspection as a condition precedent

Plaintiff argues that Defendants/Buyers should have allowed Plaintiff an opportunity to repair the various deficiencies contained in the Home Inspection. Tr. Ex. 19. Plaintiff consistently argues that the deficiencies in the Home Inspection were "minor", completely ignoring the severe flooding to which the Court heard testimony and which was clearly referenced in the Inspection Report, Tr. Ex. 19. and subsequently addressed in the trial court's Opinion and Judgment. Tr. Ex. 19; R. 120, 121.

The home inspection addendum states that "if deficiencies are revealed by the home inspection report that have not been previously disclosed, Buyer may:

a) identify such deficiencies in writing to the Seller along with a copy of the home inspection report to the Seller. Seller will have three days to consent in writing to correct deficiencies on Buyer's list, in an amount not to exceed \$TBD. Should correction of deficiencies cost more than the

- predetermined expense limitation, Sellers may elect to correct the deficiencies and proceed with the Contract; <u>OR</u> Buyer may
- b) accept responsibility for correction of deficiencies and proceed to closing if Seller(s) elects not to correct deficiencies in excess of the expense limitation; <u>OR</u> Buyer may
- c) cancel the Contract, citing the deficiencies in writing that underlie Buyer(s) cancellation whereupon all <u>earnest money deposit shall be</u> returned to the Buyer" *Emphasis added* Tr. Ex. 7.

Obviously, the Buyer at their option, chose paragraph (c) cited above, and cancelled the Contract in writing and demanded a return of all earnest money. Upon receipt of the Home Inspection Report and witnessing the flooding, the Defendants/Buyers notified the Seller in writing. Tr. Ex. 16, 17. According to the Contract, there is no obligation on the part of the Defendants/Buyers to give the Plaintiff/Seller a "right to cure".

# C. The contractual language is clear and unambiguous

This Court has consistently held that "it is a question of law for the court to determine whether a contract is ambiguous and, if not, enforce the contract as written" *Royer Homes of Miss., Inc. v Chandeleur Homes, Inc.*, 857 So2d 748, 752 (Miss. 2003), at 753, citing *Miss. Transp. Comm'n v Ronald Adams Contractor, Inc.*, 753 So2d 1077, 1087 (Miss. 2000); *Universal Underwriters Ins. Co. v Ford*, 734 So2d 173, 176 (Miss. 1999). If the Court does find any ambiguity within the contract, then, and only then, does the Court consider parol or extrinsic evidence. *Royer* at 753. In the instant matter, the trial court determined that there were clearly two (2) conditions precedent which must be met before the Buyer/Defendants were obligated to complete the purchase of the home. R. 119. The trial court ultimately held that these two (2) satisfaction clauses were unambiguous. R. 121. The trial court's decision on this issue was consistent with this Court's rulings in analogous cases. In *Sweet v TCI Ms, Inc.*, 2010WL3259797 (Miss. Aug. 2010) the Court upheld the lower court's decision in favor of a home purchaser that chose to terminate a real estate contract based on the fact that they (the purchasers) could not obtain satisfactory financing. Id. at ¶15. In *Sweet*, the Court specifically determined that the requirement that the purchaser obtain satisfactory

financing served as a condition precedent to the purchaser's obligations to complete the purchase. Id. at ¶14, citing *Bailey v Estate of Kemp*, 955 So2d 777, 786 (Miss. 2007); and *Watkins v Williamson*, 869 Sw2d 383, 384-385 (Tex. Ct. App. 1993). As long as such satisfaction clauses are unambiguous then they will be enforced so long as the purchaser did not act unreasonably or in bad faith. Id. at ¶15.

In another analogous case, *Williams v Estate of C. E. Morrison*, 969 So2d 132 (Miss. 2007) the Court considered a Home Inspection Addendum to a Real Estate Purchase Contract and held that "the terms of the addendum gave the Williams the option to render the contract null and void if the inspection results were not acceptable". Id. at 133.

This Court has repeatedly held that a contract is ambiguous only when "it can be interpreted as having two or more reasonable meanings" Mississippi Farm Bureau Casual Insurance Company v Britt, 826 So2d 1261 at 1265 (Miss. 2002); Universal Underwriters Insurance Company v Ford, 734 So2d 173, 176 (Miss. 1999); J&W Foods Corp. v State Farm Mut. Ins. Co., 723 So2d 550, 552 (Miss. 1998). If language is clear and unambiguous, then the contract language should be enforced as written and given its plain and ordinary meaning. Mississippi Farm Bureau Casual Insurance Company at 1266; Jackson v Daily, 739 So2d 1031, 1041 (Miss. 1999); Lewis v Allstate Insurance Company, 730 So2d 65, 68 (Miss. 1998); National Bankers Life Insurance Company v Cabler, 229 Miss. 118, 125, 90 So2d 201, 204 (1956).

• • •

Like Sweet v TCIMS, the trial judge in the instant matter held that "the evidence was insufficient to establish fraud or collusion on the part of the Defendants with Neelly (the Appraiser)". [parenthetical added] Tr. Ex. 7. In addition, the Plaintiff's own appraiser testified that Ed Neelly's appraisal was well within the reasonable range for different appraisals with regards to the same property. Tr. 96. Furthermore, one of Plaintiff's Appraisers, Mike Guyton, testified that if

an appraisal comes in under the sales price, the Buyer would get their earnest money back and the Seller would have no remedy. Tr. 103-104, 105. Mrs. Frances Dempsey, the real estate agent for the Defendants, testified that the Defendants did not look at any other properties prior to putting the Seller on notice that the property failed to pass a home inspection and also failed to be equal to or above the purchase price. Clearly, there was no fraud or collusion between the Defendants and their appraiser, Ed Neelly. Without fraud or collusion between the Defendants/Buyers and their appraiser, Ed Neelly, and without any evidence that the Defendants actually breached the agreement, the contract was properly terminated pursuant to either the appraisal condition or the home inspection condition.

# III. Whether the trial court was correct in awarding Defendant attorney fees

The Mississippi Supreme Court recently stated in *Marshall v Lindsly*, 2007-CA-01737-COA (April 14, 2009) that if a Court chooses to enforce the terms of a Contract, then it must also enforce the clause addressing attorney's fees, and that to not do so "would be contrary to the law". See also, *Grisham v Hinton*, 490 So2d 1201, 1206 (Miss. 1986); *Faulkner Concrete Pipe Co. v U.S. Fidelity and Guaranty Co.*, 218 So2d 1 (Miss. 1968)

The last clause contained in Paragraph 16 of the Sales Contract states "if it becomes necessary to ensure the performance of this Contract for either party to initiate litigation, then the non-prevailing party agrees to pay reasonable attorney fees and court costs in connection therewith to the prevailing party". Ex. 7 ¶16. Upon interpleader of the earnest money, the Defendants/Buyers initiated litigation by filing cross-claims against the Plaintiff. The mere fact that Plaintiff/Seller refused to return the earnest money, resulted in Crye Leike interpleading the earnest money into the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Court recessed in order to give Mr. Guyton time to review the Contract in question. Upon review, Mr. Guyton (who testified that he taught college level appraisal courses) agreed that the Buyer should have all earnest money refunded. Mr. Guyton was the Plaintiff's own witness. Mr. Guyton also testified that if the appraisal was lower than the purchase price, the contract was void and the Seller has no remedy. Tr. 105-106.

Court. As such, the prevailing party was properly awarded attorney fees.

# IV. Appellant's issues 1 and 5 should NOT be considered on appeal

Plaintiff now attempts to raise for the first time on appeal the following issues:

- whether the Defendants breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing with regards to the Appraisal and Home Inspection; and,
- 2) whether the Defendants breached the "clean hands doctrine".

Clearly, neither of these issues was presented to or considered by the trial judge in the trial, in any of Plaintiff's briefs, nor were these two doctrines addressed or even mentioned in the trial judge's Opinion and Judgment or the subsequent "Final Judgment". Accordingly, these issues are improperly presented by Plaintiff and should not be considered on this appeal. "A trial judge cannot be put in error on a matter which was never presented to him for decision." *Methodist Hospital of Memphis v Marsh*, 518 So2d 1227, 1228 (Miss. 1988)

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